## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2010-TS-01457

WILTON ACQUISITIONS CORP.

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

V.

FIRST METHODIST CHURCH OF BILOXI, MISSISSIPPI, INC.

**DEFENDANT/APPELLEE** 

On Appeal from the Chancery Court of Harrison County, Mississippi, Second Judicial District

#### BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

## ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

RONALD G. PERESICH, BAR NO RONALD G. PERESICH, JR., BAR NO. JOHANNA McMULLAN, BAR NO. PAGE, MANNINO, PERESICH & MCDERMOTT, PLLC

P.O. Drawer 289 Biloxi, MS 39533

Telephone: (228) 374-2100 Facsimile: (228) 432-5539

rgp@pmp.org

Attorneys for the Appellant, Wilton Acquisitions, Corp.

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

In this contract dispute, the issue presented on appeal is whether the Chancery Court abused its discretion in dismissing the case with prejudice without explaining why lesser sanctions were not appropriate, where no court order was violated, and where a short continuance and the imposition of monetary sanctions would have cured any prejudice to the Defendant.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Nature of the Case

This dispute involves a breach of contract and the loss of \$300,000. On November 13, 2006, Wilton Corp. signed a real estate purchase agreement ("Agreement") to buy certain real property in Biloxi, Mississippi, owned by First Methodist Church of Biloxi, Mississippi, Inc. ("First Methodist"). R. 17. Wilton Corp. paid \$300,000 in earnest money for the purchase. R. 10. The Agreement was contingent on certain warranties. R. 19. When an inspection revealed the presence of asbestos-containing materials at the property, Wilton Corp. exercised its right to terminate the contract. R. 40. The Agreement unambiguously provides: "if, during its Due Diligence Period, Wilton [Corp.] was not satisfied with its investigation, Wilton [Corp.] could terminate the Contract. . . . ." R. 10, 21. Despite the clear agreement, First Methodist refused to refund the \$300,000 in earnest money. Wilton Corp. filed suit for specific performance of the purchase agreement, breach of contract, breach of the duty of good faith and fair dealing, promissory estoppel, misrepresentation, and equitable estoppel. R. 1, 9. First Methodist alleges that the presence of asbestos-containing

materials on the property did not trigger the right to terminate. R. 45-46. First Methodist also contends that Wilton Corp. failed to comply with notice requirements of the agreement such that return of Wilton Corp.'s earnest money was not required. R. 45-46.

On the eve of trial, the Chancery Court granted First Methodist's Motion to Dismiss and for Sanctions and dismissed Wilton Corp.'s claims *with prejudice*. R.E. 4; R. 303. The Chancery Court found that Wilton Corp. willfully failed to appear for certain depositions such that its claims should be dismissed with prejudice. R.E. 3, Tr. 27-29; R.E. 4; R. 303. On August 2, 2010, the Chancery Court denied Wilton Corp.'s motion for reconsideration of the order of dismissal and Wilton Corp. filed this appeal. R.E. 6; R. 526, 532.

#### B. Procedural Background and Facts.

On June 11, 2008, Wilton Corp. filed its Amended Complaint. R. 9. In addition to the claim for specific performance, Wilton Corp. asserted claims of breach of contract, breach of the duties of good faith and fair dealing, promissory estoppel, misrepresentation, and equitable estoppel. R. 11-15. On November 5, 2008, Wilton Corp. dismissed its claim for specific performance for the sale and purchase of the church property and released its Lis Pendens Notice. R. 56. First Methodist agreed to deposit \$350,000<sup>1</sup> into the registry of the Court until resolution of Wilton Corp.'s remaining claims. R. 56-57. Discovery ensued and the exchange of written discovery and the production of documents occurred without incident. R. 58, 64, 66, 68, 70. On June 16, 2009, the Chancery Court entered an Agreed Scheduling Order, setting trial for September 9, 2009, with a discovery deadline of July 24, 2009. R. 77-78.

Depositions of Wilton Corp.'s representatives and corporate representatives, including

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The \$350,000 deposited represented Wilton Corp.'s \$300,000 and the additional \$50,000 was to provide for attorneys' fees should the court award them. R. 505.

Messrs. Jay Wilton, Scott Mayer and Kyle Bunstein were scheduled for July 14, 2009. R. 89, 91, 93. Mr. Wilton, the president and principal owner of Wilton Corp., traveled to Mississippi for the depositions from his residence in California, but en route, became acutely ill. R.E. 3, Tr. 5; R. 100, 234. Immediately upon his arrival in Mississippi, Mr. Wilton was forced to return to California for medical treatment. R.E. 3, Tr. 5-6, 10. He was suffering from congestive heart failure, a mediastinal hemorrhage and severe aortic insufficiency.<sup>2</sup> R. 254. Mr. Wilton underwent aortic valve replacement surgery on July 25, 2009, and was hospitalized for six days. R.E. 3, Tr. 5-6, 10; R. 100, 254.<sup>3</sup> Mr. Wilton testified that he nearly died as a result of his medical condition. R.E. 5, Tr. 50.

Bunstein, an employee of Wilton Corp., also traveled to Biloxi on July 14, 2009, to attend his scheduled deposition. R. 234. Bunstein, however, was concerned about giving testimony in the absence of a Wilton Corp., corporate representative and therefore asked not to give his testimony at that time. *Id.* Scott Mayer, who had been Wilton Corp.'s in-house counsel for twelve years, (R.E. 5, Tr. 48) did not appear on July 14 for his scheduled deposition for unknown reasons. R. 234. As such, the depositions were postponed. Wilton Corp. paid all court reporter costs for the cancelled

#### Aortic sufficiency is

An imperfect closure of the aortic semilunar valve at the junction of the left ventricle and the aorta. This causes blood that has been ejected into the aorta to fall back into the left ventricle. It may produce volume overload of the ventricle and congestive heart failure.

Tabers Cyclopedic Med. Dict. (2002).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>A mediastinal hemorrhage is defined as bleeding in the mediastinum, the space in the chest between the lungs, which is caused by (1) an injury, blunt or penetrating; (2) a dissecting aneurysm; (3) a rupture of aortic aneurysm; (4) surgical procedures within the chest; (5) laceration of large blood vessels during angiography; (6) the placement of arterial catheters, or (7) erosion of tracheostomy tubes. 4-M Attorneys' Dictionary of Medicine M-72405 (Matthew Bender, 2009).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>At the January 6, 2010 hearing, Mr. Wilton testified his medical condition had caused him to loose his driver's license and that only recently, the State of California would allow him to reinstate his license. R.E. 5, Tr. 50.

depositions. R. 234.4

On July 27, 2009, First Methodist moved to Amend Scheduling Order to extend discovery, including Wilton Corp.'s depositions, until September 2, 2009, a week before the scheduled trial date. R. 84. On July 31, 2009, Wilton Corp. filed a Motion to Continue Trial and Motion to Determine Location or in the Alternative for Telephonic Deposition. R.100; 102. At the time of the Wilton Corp.'s motion, Mr. Wilton was still hospitalized and his availability for deposition and trial was uncertain. R. 100. Wilton Corp. also sought an order that, due to his health and need for recuperation, the depositions of Mr. Wilton and the other Wilton Corp. representatives be taken in California or taken telephonically. R. 102.

On September 1, 2009, the Chancery Court held a status conference on Wilton Corp.'s motion to continue trial. R.E. 2; R. 106. On September 8, 2009, the Court entered an order resetting trial for October 21, 2009, and denying Wilton Corp. any relief regarding the depositions, despite Mr. Wilton's inability to travel at that time. *Id.* Instead, the Chancellor ordered Wilton Corp. to present its individual and corporate witnesses for depositions on "*Monday and Tuesday, October 19 and 20, 2009*," at defense counsel's offices. R.E. 2; R. 106 (emphasis added). The Chancery Court noted that in the event Wilton Corp. failed to provide its witnesses for pre-trial testimony, it would consider sanctions, including the dismissal of Wilton Corp.'s complaint and striking Wilton

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>In correspondence to defense counsel, Wilton Corp.'s counsel explained:

I do not know the reason for Mr. Mayer's absence. . . . Mr. Burnstein did not feel comfortable providing testimony without a corporate representative present. . . As for Mr. Wilton, no one has any control over his heart condition and the effects that condition has on his physical well-being. It is no one's fault that the flight to Biloxi through turbulent weather would cause a dramatic decline in his health that would prevent him from testifying today.

Corp.'s Answers and Defenses to the Counterclaim of First Methodist.<sup>5</sup> R.E. 2; R. 107. First Methodist, thereafter, noticed the depositions of Messrs. Wilton, Bunstein and Mayer and Wilton Corp.'s 30(b)(6) designee for October 19, 2009. R. 262-272.

On Saturday, October 17, 2009, Wilton Corp.'s counsel, Scott Smith, conferred with Messrs. Wilton and Mayer regarding their depositions and trial. R.E. 3, Tr. 20. Late, Saturday, October 17, Smith, upon request of Mr. Wilton, forwarded an electronic message to defense counsel to call him. R.E. 3, Tr. 12; R. 289; 296. Defense counsel returned the call on Sunday, October 18, but did not reach Smith. R. 297.

On October 19, 2009, at 7:45 a.m., Smith informed defense counsel that he was required to tend to his sick daughter and that the Wilton Corp. witnesses would arrive in Mississippi for their depositions at approximately 2:30 p.m. R.E. 3, Tr. 16; R. 297. Smith explained that Mr. Wilton and Bunstein believed that their depositions were set for October 20, 2009. R.E. 3, Tr. 12; R. 297.

Despite being informed of the conflict and confusion about the date of the deposition, on October 19, defense counsel, on the record, announced that the Wilton Corp. deponents were not present. R. 291-92. In a letter to Smith dated October 19, defense counsel expressed concern for Smith's daughter but noted that the Wilton Corp. witnesses should have appeared for their depositions in spite of Smith's emergency conflict. R. 301.

On October 20, 2009, First Methodist filed its Motion to Dismiss and for Sanctions pursuant to Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure 37(b)(2)(C) and 37(d). R. 174. Wilton Corp.'s counsel received the motion after 5:00 p.m. on October 19, before it was filed. R. 593, Tr. 41. Defense counsel noticed its motion for the next morning, October 20, and the Chancellor heard testimony and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>The record does not, however, reflect that First Methodist ever filed a counter-claim against Wilton Corp. or that Wilton Corp. responded to any such counter-claim.

argument on the motion to dismiss and for sanctions. R.E. 3, Tr. 1.6

During the October 20 hearing, defense counsel cross-examined Mr. Wilton, who testified that he was aware that he was to appear for his deposition, but he did not know of a court order compelling him to do so. R.E. 3, Tr. 6. In addition, Mr. Wilton stated that he was not aware his deposition was noticed for October 19. R.E. 3, Tr. 9. Mr. Wilton stated that he made airplane reservations to travel to the Mississippi Gulf Coast on October 18. *Id.* He testified that despite his efforts he could not locate his corporate counsel, Mayer, to attend the depositions. R.E. 3, Tr. 7. Ultimately, Mr. Wilton did not travel to Mississippi on Sunday, October 18. He testified that Smith did not instruct him not to travel on Sunday, and that he made the decision to travel on Monday, October 19 because the depositions would not be useful without Mayer. *Id.* He stated:

I believed sincerely and earnestly, as my corporate counsel and as one of the persons that was in the deposition that he [Mayer] would go first. And I was also told as recently as Friday you rescheduled depositions, so I though they were still fluid because on Friday your office changed the order of the depositions.

- Q. [Defense Counsel] Well, now what are you basing that testimony on?
- A. The conversation I had with my counsel that says that you wanted all of the depositions on Monday as opposed to one on Tuesday and two on Monday.
- Q... are you not aware [that the depositions] were always noticed for October the 19<sup>th</sup>?
- A. No, sir, I'm not aware of that.
- O. You weren't aware of that at all.
- A. No. I had a discussion where I believed that the depositions - because I got a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>The title page of the hearing transcript indicates that Ronald G. Peresich appeared as attorney for the Appellant, Wilton Corp. at the October 20, 2009. Mr. Peresich, however, did not represent Wilton Corp. in the lower court and actually entered his appearance in this case on August 7, 2010, and represents Wilton Corp. in this appeal. Attorney Scott Smith represented Wilton Corp. in the lower court and the transcript's table of contents accurately reflects his appearance and representation of Wilton Corp. in the lower court.

notice that the deposition with Mr. Mayer was on Tuesday and the others were on Monday. I was told by counsel that for the convenience for all you had then requested on Friday to have the depositions all on Monday to have the day off on Tuesday to prepare for trial.

## R.E. 3, Tr. 9 (emphasis added).

On direct examination Mr. Wilton testified:

- Q. [Plaintiff's Counsel] The illness that you have described, Mr. Wilton, how has that affected your memory.
- A. Well, that illness caused me to have several seizures, and that has affected my memory dramatically and embarrassingly.
- Q. Tell the court again why you didn't come on Sunday.

A. I had made a reservation at 10:50 leaving Los Angeles directly to New Orleans and then to rent a car and drive here on Sunday for all three of us. We had an exit row all sitting together. . . . We had a conference call on Saturday. My counsel, Scott Mayer, and myself . . . Mr. Bunstein tried to call in but could not get in [on the line] . . . It was sort of a predeposition/pretrial discussion to get organized to come down here. Mr. Mayer participated in that and gave me no indication that he wouldn't be here.

I [tried] . . . to reach him after the conference call, and he said to me that he would be unavailable on the Sunday. And I asked him, what did that mean. And he said, well, I have to be on a boat at 6:00 AM in the morning and will not be back until 8:00.

I then spoke with Scott [Smith], our counsel, and said, it will be important to this case to have Mr. Mayer have his deposition taken first because he's the most familiar with all of the facts, and my memory is not strong. So we discussed that, and from that discussion — maybe it was my misimpression or my lack of understanding, I did not know that the depositions all had to be on Monday because, as I said to you, I believed there was a discussion between Mr. Smith's office and your office on Friday about rescheduling Mr. Mayer's deposition from Tuesday to Monday. So my innocent impression was they were still fluid, and I was unaware of the exact issues in the court order. So, I decided that it would be best for this case and for all of us involved in the depositions to come together. Mr. Mayer did not show up, so I thought Monday would be appropriate. We'd get here as early as we could.

R.E. 3, Tr. 11-12 (emphasis added). Wilton continued to try to contact Mayer, finally speaking to

Mayer's wife on Monday, October 19, who informed him that she could not find her husband and needed help in doing so. R.E. 3, Tr. 12. At the time of the scheduled October 19 depositions, Mayer was no longer Wilton Corp.'s general counsel, having been terminated a month earlier due to a declining real estate market. R.E. 3, Tr. 13.

Defense counsel then called Wilton Corp.'s Mississippi counsel, Scott Smith, to testify. R.E. 3, Tr. 14. Smith testified that there had been no discussions with defense counsel on the Friday preceding October 19 about changing the scheduled depositions. R.E. 3, Tr. 15. Smith testified that he advised Scott Mayer that the depositions were scheduled for October 19 and that Mayer was Smith's contact at Wilton Corp. *Id.* Smith stated that all emails and U.S. mailings were forwarded to Mayer, including the September 8 Order, the deposition notices and the Rule (30)(b)(6) notice. *Id.* Smith testified that as the case got closer to trial, Mayer was not returning his calls and electronic correspondence and he then began communicating with Mr. Wilton directly. *Id.* 

Smith testified further that he called defense counsel at 8:15 a.m.<sup>7</sup> on Monday, October 19, to inform defense counsel that he had an emergency conflict. R.E. 3, Tr. 16. Smith was at his daughter's pediatrician's office with his daughter who had been hospitalized over the weekend and was being treated for the flu. R.E. 3, Tr. 16. Smith also called to inform defense counsel that the Wilton Corp. deponents misunderstood and believed that their depositions were scheduled for Tuesday, October 20, and were arriving at 2:30 p.m. on Monday, October 19. R.E. 3, Tr. 16-17.

#### Smith testified:

[the] stumbling block in this whole process has been Mr. Mayer. I don't know what communications he has failed to make with ... Mr. Wilton or Mr. Bunstein. Of course, they're in California. We're here in Mississippi.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>The time of this call has been recalled to have been at various times, 7:45 a.m. (R. 297), 8:00 a.m. (R. 177), and 8:15 (Tr. 16).

Controlling Mr. Mayer has been extremely difficult to say the least. Returning of phone calls with Mr. Wilton's severe illness, I don't know what he communicated to him or not.

I don't believe that Mr. Wilton intentionally has done anything wrong. I think he may have been left out of the loop on a lot of things from Mr. Mayer. Him being the in-house counsel, I don't know the inner workings, but in cross-examination of myself, that's the best I know.

R.E. 3, Tr. 19.

Following counsels' arguments, the Chancellor stated:

Mr. Wilton and the other gentleman who are here today could easily have been here. Their presence should not have been conditioned on Mr. Mayer being present despite his knowledge and information that he would have at his deposition. The plaintiff does not control the order of the depositions when it's called by the other side.

So it seems to me that at least in the context of the ... case --Salts versus Gulf National Life that the defendant has been prejudiced where this trial date is tomorrow morning at 9:00. The Court understands and accepts that Mr. Wilton or the plaintiff apparently no longer has any control over Mr. Mayer, but certainly Mr. Wilton and the other witness could have been here yesterday morning and proceeded to submit themselves for their deposition.

. . .

I accept also that this case is important to both parties. \$300,000 is not an insignificant sum of money to either the plaintiff or I'm sure to a church, but I do not find that a lesser sanction would achieve the purposes of compliance with the rules.

. . .

So the Court will grant the motion of the defendant, dismiss the plaintiff's complaint and enter judgment for the defendant. The Court reserves the issue of attorneys' fees and would ask for just a short two-letter brief on the issue of attorneys' fees. I'm not prepared to rule on that today.

R.E. 3, Tr. 28-29.

On November 2, 2009, judgment was entered dismissing the case with prejudice and awarding the earnest money held in the court's registry to First Methodist. R.E. 4; R. 303. The judgment stated that:

the Court having considered the testimony of Mr. Jay Wilton and of Attorney, Scott Smith, and further having considered all submissions and argument of Counsel is of the opinion, for the reasons stated into the record at the Hearing hereon which reasons are incorporated herein by reference, the Motion [to Dismiss] is well taken and should be granted.

R.E. 4; R. 303. The Court reserved the issue of attorneys' fees until First Methodist submitted sufficient information for the Court to consider an award of attorneys' fees and costs. R.E. 4; R. 304.

On November 12, 2009, Wilton Corp. filed its Motion for Reconsideration, requesting reconsideration and the imposition of a less drastic sanction. R. 306. On January 6, 2010, the Court heard Wilton Corp. 's Motion for Reconsideration. R.E. 5, Tr. 32. At the hearing Smith noted that the order set the depositions for both October 19 and October 20. R.E. 5, Tr. 36; *see* R.E. 2. Also at the hearing, Mr. Wilton again apologized for the appearance that he had disrespected the Court and reiterated the severity of his health condition at the time of the July depositions and again explained his efforts to urge Mayer to appear for his deposition. R.E. 5, Tr. 48-49.

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