IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

WILTON ACQUISITIONS CORP.

PLAINTIFF / APPELLANT

VS.

CASE NO. 2010-TS-01457

FIRST METHODIST CHURCH OF BILOXI, MISSISSIPPI, INC.

DEFENDANT / APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI, SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

CLYDE H. GUNN, III, MSB # CHRISTOPHER C. VAN CLEAVE, MSB # W. CORBAN GUNN, MSB # CORBAN, GUNN & VAN CLEAVE, PLLC Post Office Drawer 1916
Biloxi, Mississippi 39533-1916
Phone: (228) 432-7826
Fax: (228) 456-0998

ATTORNEYS OF RECORD FOR APPELLEE, FIRST METHODIST CHURCH OF BILOXI, MISSISSIPPI, INC.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

WILTON ACQUSITIONS CORP.

APPELLANT

VS.

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In this case, dismissal of Wilton's Complaint with prejudice was proper and just. The Chancery Court did not abuse its discretion in leveling the ultimate sanction for discovery abuse when Wilton, by and through its owner, Mr. Jay Wilton, intentionally violated the *Agreed Order* of the Chancery Court. Although Jay Wilton testified that he was "unaware" of the *Agreed Order* and "misunderstood" the date and time of his scheduled deposition, the entire set of facts clearly demonstrate Mr. Wilton's testimony was, at best, self serving.

The Chancery Court unquestionably warned Wilton and entered an *Agreed Order* that failure to appear for court ordered depositions would result in the Chancery Court considering any and all appropriate sanctions set forth in Rule 37 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure "which

may include the dismissal of Plaintiff's Complaint with prejudice and the striking of Plaintiff's Answer and Defenses to Counterclaims of Defendants." R.E. 21-22, R. 106-107.

As a result of Wilton's intentional failure to appear for court ordered depositions and to present a corporate representative to respond to the Church's 30(b)(6) notice, the Church faced trial by abuse, the ultimate prejudice. The Chancery Court considered lesser sanctions including requiring Wilton to pay costs and expenses (for the second time) and the possibility of disallowing Wilton from offering any proof; however, the Chancery Court properly determined that dismissal with prejudice was warranted in this case. For the foregoing reasons, the Chancery Court's judgment should be upheld.

ARGUMENT

I. THE CHANCERY COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DISMISSING WILTON'S CASE WITH PREJUDICE.

A. Standard of Review

Whether to impose sanctions for discovery abuses is entrusted to the trial court's discretion. Amiker v. Drugs for Less, Inc., 796 So.2d 942, 948 (Miss.2000). "The power to dismiss is inherent in any court of law or equity, being a means necessary to the orderly expedition of justice and the court's control of its own docket." Id. The trial court has great latitude in determining what sanctions are appropriate. Pierce v. Heritage Props., Inc. 688 So.2d 1385, 1388 (Miss. 1997). Nonetheless, "the trial court should dismiss a cause of action for failure to comply with discovery only under the most extreme circumstances." Id.

Rule 37 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure is designed to vest with the trial court great latitude in deciding when and what sanctions will be imposed for a discovery violation. *Marshall v. Burger King*, 2 So. 3d 702, 706 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008). Consequently, we review the trial court's decision to grant discovery sanctions for an abuse of discretion. *Pierce*, 688 So.2d at 1388. If the trial court applied the correct standard, the Supreme Court will affirm unless there lies a

"definite and firm conviction that the court below committed a clear error of judgment in the conclusion it reached upon weighing of relevant factors." *Id.*

B. The Chancery Court Did Not Abuse its Discretion in Dismissing the Case with Prejudice

Miss. R. Civ. P. 37(b)(2)(C) states, in part:

- (b)(2) Sanctions by Court in Which Action is Pending. If a party or an officer, director, or managing agent of a party or a person designated under Rules 30(b)(6) or 31(a) to testify on behalf of a party failed to obey an order to provide or permit discovery, including an order made under subsection (a) of this rule, the court in which the action is pending may make such orders in regard to the failure as are just, and amoung others the following:
- (C) an order striking out pleadings or parts thereof, or staying further proceedings until the order is obeyed, or dismissing the action or proceeding or any part thereof, or rendering a judgment by default against the disobedient party

Miss.R.Civ.P. 37(b)(2)(C)

Miss. R. Civ. P. 37(b)(2)(C) provides *inter alia* that if a deponent fails to appear for a deposition after being directed by the trial court to do so, the trial court may dismiss the action. *Salts* v. *Gulf Nat'l Life Ins. Co.*, 872 So.2d 667, 674 (Miss. 2004). A rule which is not enforced is no rule at all. *Id*.

This case demonstrates a clear example of a party failing to adhere to the explicit Agreed Order of the Chancery Court. The record clearly demonstrates that Wilton, a corporate entity, along with specifically identified deponents, Mr. Jay Wilton, Mr. Scott D. Mayer, Mr. Kyle Bunstein, and the 30(b)(6) corporate representative willfully and/or intentionally made the decision to not appear for court ordered depositions. Moreover, Wilton was specifically warned by the Chancery Court that failure to appear could result in "dismissal of Plaintiff's Complaint with prejudice and the striking of Plaintiff's Answer and Defenses to Counterclaims of Defendants" R.E. 21-22, R. 106-107.

Appellants contend that few Mississippi cases address sanctions for failure to appear at a deposition. However, multiple cases demonstrate the discretion of the trial judge to dismiss the

action of a party is inherent and does not abuse the court's discretion when a party violates a court order. See, generally, Salts v. Gulf Nat'l Life Ins. Co., 872 So.2d 667 (Miss. 2004) (dismissal of plaintiff's complaint for not appearing for deposition in violation of court order); Young v. Merritt, 40 So.3d 587 (Miss. Ct. App. 2010) (dismissal of plaintiff's complaint for failing to respond to discovery in violation of agreed court order); Beck v. Sapet, 937 So.2d 945 (Miss. 2006); Gilbert v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 749 So.2d 361 (Miss. 1999) (dismissal of plaintiff's complaint for not appearing for deposition in violation of court order).

In Salts v. Gulf Nat'l Life Ins. Co. 872 So.2d 667 (Miss. 2004), as a result of an order signed by the trial court and agreed to by counsel for the parties, the plaintiffs and other witnesses were to submit to depositions on specified dates; however, the plaintiffs failed to appear and be deposed. Id. at 670 (¶6). The plaintiffs in Salts argued, as Wilton does in the case sub judice, that they did not willfully fail to comply with the agreed order, but they merely "misunderstood" the order; that the extreme sanctions of dismissal was improper because the order of the trial court did not indicate that lesser sanctions were ever considered; and that defendant was not prejudiced in any way by the plaintiffs continuing the scheduled depositions. Id. at 670-671.

This Court in *Salts* set forth plaintiffs' assertions that they merely misunderstood the trial court's order was without merit. This Court correctly identified the subject order for Plaintiffs and their witnesses to appear for court ordered depositions was approved by one of the attorneys for the plaintiffs, and clearly and unequivocally directed the Plaintiffs and other witnesses to be deposed on a specific day agreed to by and between the parties. *Id.* Thus, there can be no misunderstanding in regard to an Agreed Order.

This Court in Salts found the trial court considered lesser sanctions by relying on all arguments set forth by the defendant in its Motion to Dismiss, Memorandum Brief in support of the motion and the Rebuttal in support of the Motion whereby defendant sought alternative lesser

sanctions if the Court was not in favor of dismissal with prejudice. *Id.* at 671. Absent a trial date, defendant argued that it was substantially and materially prejudiced by the plaintiffs' repeated attempts to thwart the discovery process. *Id.* The Supreme Court agreed with the trial court and pursuant to Miss. R. Civ. P. 37(b)(2)(C) stated "[T]o hold otherwise would render this provision of the rule meaningless and one we should simply judicially abrogate if it is not going to be enforced." *Id.* at 674. Stated again, a rule which is not enforced is no rule at all. *Id.*

In Young v. Merritt, 40 So.3d 587 (Miss. Ct. App. 2010), the plaintiff was dilatory in responding to defendant's written discovery requests. *Id.* at 588. The plaintiff's dilatory conduct was created by communication difficulties by and between counsel for plaintiff and his client. *Id.* Counsel for defendant forwarded multiple correspondence regarding plaintiff's outstanding discovery responses. *Id.* After counsel for plaintiff assured responses would be forthcoming on a specific date, the specific date came with no responses to discovery forwarded to defendant. *Id.* As a result, defendant filed his Motion to Compel. *Id.*

Prior to the hearing on defendant's Motion to Compel, counsel for plaintiff contacted counsel for defendant. *Id.* Counsel for plaintiff, in lieu of a hearing on defendant's Motion to Compel, agreed and approved an order to be entered by the trial court to allow plaintiff until March 31, 2008, to respond to Plaintiff's written discovery. *Id.* at 588-589. The order also stated the case would be dismissed with prejudice if responses were not filed by this date. *Id.*

On March 31, 2008, counsel for plaintiff was unable to contact his client; however, attempted to serve unsigned incomplete responses to written discovery. *Id.* However, Federal Express was unable to deliver by the close of business. Thus, counsel for plaintiff forwarded the unsigned incomplete responses to written discovery on April 1, 2008 via overnight mail. *Id.* Appropriately, defendant filed his Motion to Dismiss. *Id.* The trial court heard arguments on the motion and dismissed the case with prejudice. *Id.*

This Court upheld the trial court's ruling finding that the trial court did not err in enforcing the agreed order. *Id.* Despite agreeing to a dismissal with prejudice for failure to respond to discovery, plaintiff argued that the order dismissing his case with prejudice was unduly harsh and that the trial court should have considered a lesser sanction. *Id.* This Court found it was within the trial court's discretion provided by Miss. R. Civ. P. 37(b) to dismiss the case with prejudice if a party fails to comply with an order. *Id.* Although counsel for plaintiff experienced communication difficulties with his client, the Supreme Court upheld the trial court's dismissal with prejudice.

In this case, the Chancery Court did not abuse its discretion. This Court has not outlined any predicates or repetition patterns required under Miss. R. Civ. P. 37 before a trial court can sanction a party, such as Wilton, for violation of an <u>agreed court order</u>. Wilton willfully and/or intentionally violated the *Agreed Order* by not appearing for depositions. Wilton failed to comply with the *Agreed Order* in its failure to produce Mr. Jay Wilton, Mr. Scott D. Mayer, Mr. Kyle Bunstein, and 30(b)(6) corporate representative for court ordered depositions. Wilton's excuse that its owner, Mr. Jay Wilton was confused and, that counsel for Wilton had difficulty communicating with Wilton's in-house counsel, Scott D. Mayer, who was designated by Mr. Jay Wilton as the contact person for Wilton, is not convincing based on the facts. In the case at bar, the facts speak for themselves and support the decision of the Chancery Court to dismiss Wilton's Complaint with prejudice.

1. Key Facts Demonstrate No Abuse of Discretion

On June 16, 2009, the Chancery Court entered an *Agreed Scheduling Order* presented by all parties which set certain deadlines, including the completion of discovery on or before July 24, 2009, and set the trial of this matter for September 9, 2009. R.E. 7-8, R. 77-78. Per the agreement of counsel, on July 2, 2009, the Church noticed the depositions of Mr. Jay Wilton, Mr. Scott D. Mayer, and Mr. Kyle Bunstein for July 13, 2009 in Biloxi, Mississippi. On July 11, 2009, the Church noticed the 30(b)(6) notice of deposition and provided counsel for Wilton certain areas of inquiry

for which Wilton should provide a designated corporate representative to be deposed on July 13, 2009 in Biloxi, Mississippi. R.E. 9-19, R. 89-99

On the morning of July 13, 2009, approximately one hour prior to the start of Mr. Jay Wilton's deposition, counsel for Wilton told counsel for the Church that (1) Mr. Jay Wilton was ill² and would be unable to attend his deposition; (2) Mr. Scott D. Mayer, Esq. chose not travel to Biloxi, Mississippi for his agreed and scheduled deposition; (3) Mr. Kyle Bunstein refused to appear for his agreed and schedule deposition; and (4) Wilton would be not be able to provide a 30(b)(6) corporate representative to testify on behalf of Wilton at the agreed and scheduled deposition. Notwithstanding Mr. Jay Wilton's illness, the undisputed facts demonstrated the Wilton's agents, employees, and/or witnesses willfully and/or intentionally refused to appear for their properly noticed and agreed deposition(s). R.E. 20, R. 234.

In an effort to keep the September 9, 2009 trial date, a *Motion to Amend Scheduling Order* was filed. R. 84-99. However, on July 30, 2009, Wilton filed its *Motion to Continue Trial and Motion to Determine Deposition Location, Or in the Alternative For Telephonic Depositions* to force the Church to travel to Los Angeles, California to conduct depositions of Wilton and its witnesses or limit the Church to telephonic depositions. R. 102-104.

On September 1, 2009, the parties appeared before the Chancery Court regarding Wilton's pending Motions. The Chancery Court, in an effort to accommodate Wilton, granted the *Motion to Continue* but denied Wilton's *Motion* regarding the venue of depositions. R.E. 62, Tr. 28.

On September 8, 2009, the Chancery Court entered its Order resetting the trial for October 21, 2009, and specifically set forth:

"...[T]he Plaintiff (Wilton) <u>shall</u> present its witnesses <u>both corporate and individuals</u> noticed for deposition in Biloxi, Mississippi on Monday and Tuesday, <u>October 19 and 20, 2009</u>. These witnesses shall include <u>Mr. Jay Wilton</u>, <u>Mr. Scott D. Mayer</u>,

² The Church does not dispute Mr. Jay Wilton's illness and the effect that illness may have had on his personal inability to be deposed on July 13, 2009.

Mr. Kyle Bunstein, and a corporate representative to respond to Defendant's Rule 30(b)(6) deposition notice ...[I]n the event the Plaintiff (Wilton) fails to provide these witnesses for their pre-trial testimony, the Court will consider any and all appropriate sanctions including but not limited to sanctions set forth in Rule 37 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure which may include the dismissal of Plaintiff's Complaint with prejudice and the striking of Plaintiff's Answers and Defenses to the Counterclaim of Defendants."

R.E. 21-22, R. 106-107.

The Agreed Order was approved and agreed to by Scott Smith, Esq., attorney for Wilton. R.E. 21-22. R. 106.107. The Agreed Order was clear. The Agreed Order was not confusing. The Agreed Order was forwarded to Wilton by its attorney. R.E. 52, Tr. 18. The Agreed Order provided Wilton clear warning of possible sanctions, including dismissal of Plaintiff's Complaint with prejudice for noncompliance. R.E. 21-22, R. 106-107. The Agreed Order cannot be misunderstood.

On September 24, 2009, the Church noticed the depositions of Mr. Jay Wilton for 9:00 a.m. on October 19, 2009; Mr. Scott D. Mayer, Esq. for 11:00 a.m. on October 19, 2009; Mr. Kyle Bunstein at 2:00 p.m on October 19, 2009; and the 30(b)(6) corporate representative at 3:00 p.m. on October 19, 2009. R.E. 23-33, R. 262-272. All were to be conducted at the office of counsel for the Church. The *Notice(s)* were clear. The *Notice(s)* were not confusing. The *Notice(s)* were forwarded to Wilton by its attorney. R.E. 49, Tr. 15. The *Notice(s)* cannot be misunderstood.

On October 7, 2009, counsel for Wilton, Scott Smith, Esq., emailed counsel for the Church to confirm "the order and the times for the depositions scheduled for Oct. 19 and 20? Thanks." R.E. 34, R. 273. Less than two (2) hours later, counsel for the Church replied and provided each of the *Notice(s) of Depositions* referenced above along the *Agreed Order* of the Court ordering that Mr. Jay Wilton, Mr. Scott D. Mayer, Mr. Kyle Bunstein, and the 30(b)(6) corporate representative of Wilton to appear for depositions as noticed. Moreover, the email stated the following:

"[I] believe the attached will answer all questions...[I]t is my intent to have all depos completed on October 19, 2009...[F]or the 30(b)(6) deponent, if the individual ...deposed in his individual capacity ... agree that we can cover the areas of inquiry then as opposed to separate deposition...Thanks."

R.E. 34, R. 273.

The email was <u>clear</u>. The email was <u>not confusing</u>. The email was <u>forwarded</u> and <u>received</u> by counsel for Wilton. R.E. 34. R. 273. The email <u>cannot be misunderstood</u>.

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